IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA,

JAMES LESCHER,

Petitioner,

vs.

FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF HIGHWAY SAFETY AND MOTOR VEHICLES,

Respondent. CASE NO.: SC07-32

L.T. NO.: 4D06-2291

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF

Respectfully submitted,

RICHARD W. SPRINGER, P.A. Attorneys for Petitioner 3003 South Congress Avenue Suite 1A Palm Springs, FL 33461 (561) 433-9500

By:_____ Richard W. Springer, Esquire Florida Bar No. 176285

Catherine Mazzullo, Esquire Florida Bar No. 752312

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner, JAMES LESCHER, was the applicant in an administrative proceeding before the Department of Highway Safety and Motor Vehicles Division of Driver's Licenses Bureau of Administrative Reviews, the Petitioner before the Circuit Court, and was the Petitioner before the Fourth District Court of Appeal. Petitioner will be referred to as "Petitioner" or by name. Respondent, the Department of Highway Safety and Motor Vehicles, was the administrative agency, the Respondent before the Circuit Court, and the Respondent before the Fourth District Court of Appeal. Respondent will be referred to as "Respondent" or "Department of Highway Safety and Motor Vehicles".

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The pertinent history and facts are set out in the decision of the lower tribunal, which can be found at <u>James</u> <u>Lescher v. Department of Highway Safety and Motor Vehicles,</u> 946 So2d 1140 (Fla. 4th DCA 2006), (App. A).

On December 1, 2000, the Petitioner, JAMES LESCHER, had his Florida driver's license permanently revoked pursuant to F.S. §322.28(2)(e). This permanent revocation was based on his convictions for Driving Under the Influence, contrary to F.S. §316.193. Specifically, the Petitioner was convicted of Driving Under the Influence in 1979, 1983, 1991 and 2000.

On August 3, 2005, at the Bureau of Administrative Review, 6801 Lake Worth Road, Suite 200, Lake Worth, Florida 33467, Petitioner made an application to reinstate his driving privilege. On August 3, 2005 a hearing was held before Hearing Officer Donna George at the Department of Highway Safety and Motor Vehicles. At that hearing, counsel for the Petitioner argued that the Petitioner should be eligible to obtain a hardship license based on the recent Supreme Court ruling in <u>Florida Department of Highway Safety and Motor Vehicles v. Robert P. Critchfield</u>, 842 So.2d 782 (Fla. 2003) (rehearing denied June 11, 2003), holding that Chapter 98-223 violates the single subject

requirement of the Florida Constitution. Hearing Officer Donna George conducted a record review and issued an Order denying Petitioner's requested relief (App. B).

Petitioner made his timely petition for Writ of Certiorari to the Circuit Court of the Fifteenth Judicial Circuit. From the opinion of the Circuit Court denying the requested relief (App. C), Petitioner sought certiorari review in the Fourth District Court of Appeal.

On December 20, 2006 the Fourth District Court of Appeal issued an Order Denying Petitioner's Writ of Certiorari, and certified a question of great public importance to this Court in <u>James Lescher v. Department of</u> <u>Highway Safety and Motor Vehicles</u>, 946 So2d 1140 (Fla. 4th DCA 2006)(App. A). The Petitioner then filed a Notice to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction with this court. On February 9, 2007 this court accepted jurisdiction.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The application of F.S. 322.28 and F.S. 322.271 as amended to persons whose offense for DUI was committed before the Legislators changed the law eliminating the opportunity to apply for a hardship driver's license, violates the constitutional ban on expost facto laws. The legislator's stated intent that the Department of Highway Safety and Motor Vehicles authority under Chapter 322 to permanently revoke the driver's license upon conviction for DUT offenses is an "administrative remedy" must be Using the seven factors the United States rejected. Supreme Court used in Hudson v. U.S., 522 U.S. 93, 118 S.Ct. 488, 139 L.Ed. 2d 450 (1997), there is clear proof that the statutory scheme mandating a permanent driver's license revocation is punitive in purpose and effect and therefore in the nature of criminal punishment subject to the constitutional ban on expost facto laws.

A law violates the prohibition against expost facto laws if two conditions are met; (1) it is retrospective in effect and (2) it diminishes a substantial substantive right the party would have enjoyed under the law existing at the time of the alleged offense. <u>Dugger v. Williams</u>, 593 So2d 180 (Fla. 1991). The amendment to Sections 322.28 and 322.271 eliminating Petitioner's opportunity to apply

for a hardship driver's license operated retrospectively to a class of drivers who received permanent revocations for an offense that occurred before the amendments effective date and the amended statute forbidding hardship permits was more onerous than the law in effect on Petitioner's offense date. The application of F.S. 322.28 and 322.271 in denying Petitioner's request for a hardship permit violates the expost facto provision of the Florida Constitution, Article I, Section 10.

ARGUMENT

THE AMENDEMENT DOES TO SECTION 322.271(4), FLORIDA STATUTES WHICH ELIMINATED HARDSHIP DRIVER'S LICENSES EFFECTIVE JULY 1, 2003, VIOLATE THE PROHIBITION AGAINST EXPOST FACTO LAWS AS TO PERSONS WHO COULD HAVE APPLIED A HARDSHIP LICENSE BEFORE FOR THE AMENDMENT BECAME EFFECTIVE?

Prior to the 1998 amendment of F.S. §322.271(4), a person convicted four or more times of violating F.S. §316.193, the Driving Under the Influence Statute, was granted the right to petition the Department of Highway Safety and Motor Vehicles for a hardship license after five years from the date of revocation. The amendment to F.S. §322.271(4) in 1998 eliminated the previously existing right to petition the Department of Highway Safety and Motor Vehicles for a hardship license. This Honorable Court in Department of Highway Safety and Motor Vehicles v. Robert Critchfield, 892 So. 2d 782 (Fla. 2003) (rehearing denied June 11, 2003) held that Chapter 98-223 amending §322.271(4) violates the single subject requirement of the Florida Constitution. The 1998 amendments to F.S. §322.271, F.S. §322.26 and F.S. §322.28, have been determined to be unconstitutional. This Honorable court determined that this Chapter Law violated our

constitutional requirements of law. <u>Critchfield</u> at 842 So.2d 782.

Petitioner's driver's license was permanently revoked on December 1, 2000. In denying Petitioner's application to reinstate his driver's license on a hardship basis, the Respondent relied on Section 322.28, Florida Statutes enacted on July 1, 2003. (App. B). The application of F.S. 322.28 and F.S. 322.271 as amended to persons whose offense was committed before the legislators changed the law eliminating the opportunity to apply for a hardship license, violates the constitutional ban on expost facto laws. Under both the Florida and United States Constitutions, lawmakers may not enact laws that increase the punishment for a criminal offense after the crime has been committed. See U.S. Constitution Article I \$10("No State shall....pass any ... ex post facto law "); article I §10, Florida Constitution ("No....expost facto law...shall be passed"). The constitutional prohibition on ex post facto laws applies only to criminal legislation and proceedings. Goad v. Florida Department of Corrections, 845 So2d 880 (Fla. 2003); Westerheide v. State, 831 So2d 93 (Fla. 2002).

As stated in <u>Goad v. Florida Department of</u> <u>Corrections</u>, 845 So2d 880 (Fla. 2003),"The categorization of a particular proceeding as civil or criminal is first of

all a question of statutory construction" citing <u>Kansas v.</u> <u>Hendricks</u>, 521 U.S. 346, 117 S.Ct. 2072, 138 L.Ed 2d 501 (1997) (quoting <u>Allen v. Illinois</u>, 478 U.S. 364, 106 S.Ct. 2988, 92 L.Ed 2d 296 (1986)). "We must initially ascertain whether the legislature meant the statute to establish "civil" proceedings. If so, we ordinarily defer to the legislature's stated intent." <u>Hendricks</u>, 521 U.S. at 361, 117 S.Ct. 2072. When attempting to discern legislative intent, courts must first look at the actual language used in the statute. <u>Goad</u> citing <u>Joshua v. City of Gainesville</u>, 768 So2d 432 (Fla. 2000).

Chapter 322 is devoted to driver's licenses. Section 322.02 authorizes the Department of Highway Safety and Motor Vehicles with the administration and function of the enforcement of the chapter. Section 322.02(2), Florida Statutes (2007). Based on the legislative intention as stated in the introductory section of the chapter, §322.02, the Department of Highway Safety and Motor Vehicle function is administrative.

In denying Petitioner's Writ of Certiorari, the majority cited <u>Smith v. City of Gainesville</u>, 93 So2d 105 (Fla. 1957) for the proposition that the revocation of a driver's license for DUI is an administrative remedy and is not punishment. Lescher v. Department of Highway Safety

<u>and Motor Vehicles</u>, 946 So2d 1140 (Fla. 4th DCA 2006). However, in the fifty years since the decision in <u>Smith</u>, Chpater 322 has been amended with substantive law a number of times.

While "the civil label is not dispositive," the Legislature's stated intent should only be rejected where the challenging party presents "the clearest proof" that the statutory scheme [is] so punitive either in purpose or effect as to negate [the State's] intention that the proceeding be civil." <u>Goad v. Florida Department of Corrections</u>, 845 So2d 880 (Fla. 2003)citing <u>Allen v.</u> <u>Illinois</u>, 478 U.S. 364, 106 S.Ct. 2988, 92 L.Ed 2d 296 (1986) (quoting <u>United States v. Ward</u>, 448 U.S. 242, 100 S.Ct. 2636, 65 L.Ed 2d 742 (1980)). See also <u>Hudson v.</u> <u>United States</u>, 522 U.S. 93, 118 S.Ct. 488, 139 L.Ed 2d 450 (1997) (noting that "only the clearest proof" will suffice to override legislative intent and transform what has been denominated a civil remedy into a criminal penalty").

The United States Supreme Court in <u>Hudson</u> used seven factors as "guide posts" to determine whether a civil statute actually imposes a remedy that is in the nature of criminal punishment. As stated in Goad:

> In determining whether a civil statute is in reality punitive in nature, we must consider: (1)whether the sanction

involves an affirmative disability or restraint; (2) whether it has historically been regarded as punishment; (3) whether it comes into play only on a finding of *scienter*; (4) whether its operation will promote the traditional aims of punishmentretribution and deterrence; (5) whether the behavior to which it applies is already a crime; (6) whether an alternative purpose to which it may rationally be connected is assignable for it; and (7) whether it appears in relation excessive to the alternative purpose assigned. Hudson, 522 U.S. at 99-100, 118 S.Ct. 488 Kennedy v. (relying on Mendoza-Martinez, 372 U.S. 144, 168-169, 83 S.Ct. 554, 9 L.Ed.2d 644 (1963)).

Goad at 884 (Fla. 2003).

Therefore, to answer the certified question presented, this Court must address whether the revocation of a driver's license for DUI and the inability to obtain a hardship permit is punitive in either purpose or effect to transform what was intended as a civil remedy into a criminal penalty.

A. THE STATUTORY SCHEME IS PUNITIVE IN PURPOSE AND EFFECT

1. THE SANCTION INVOLVES AN AFFIRMATIVE DISABILITY OR RESTRAINT

Section 322.28(2)(e) states in pertinent part:

The Court shall permanently revoke a driver's license or driving privilege of a person who has

been convicted four times for violation of §316.193.... If the Court has not permanently revoked such driver's license or driving privilege within 30 days after imposing sentence, the department shall permanently revoke..... No driver's license or driving privilege may be issued or granted to any such person...........

It is clear from the language of section 322.28(2)(e) that the permanent revocation is definite, immediate, and automatic at a time of sentencing on a conviction for a fourth DUI. The July 1, 2003 enactment of sections 322.271 and 322.28 eliminated the prior opportunity to petition for a hardship permit. In the absence of any opportunity to comply with the previously stated requirements of obtaining a hardship permit, the sanction is an affirmative disability and restraint to do without a permit.

2. DRIVER'S LICENSE REVOCATION HAS HISTORICALLY BEEN REGARDED AS A PUNISHMENT

As far back as 1959 in <u>Miami v. Aronivitz</u>, 114 So2d 784 (Fla. 1959) this Court used language consistent with the license revocation being penal:

> We judicially know that as originally contemplated the driver's license requirement was enacted primarily as a source of revenue finance the to maintenance of the State Department of Time has Public Safety. proven, however, that because of the severe penalties attendant upon serious traffic violations, including suspension or revocation of driver's

license, this requirement has become an essential segment of our laws for the control and prevention of traffic accidents and fatalities. The public records reveal that during the first six months of the current calendar year over two and one-half million driver's licenses had been issued in Florida. It is a privilege to hold a license to drive. It is a severe handicap to be compelled to do without one. Suspension or revocation of driver's licenses is one of the most effective measures to compel observance of the traffic laws.

More recent, in <u>Daniels v. State</u>, 716 So2d 827 (Fla. 4^{th} DCA 1998)the Fourth District Court characterized the revocation of a driver's license as a penalty. In <u>Daniels</u> the defendant entered a plea of guilty to drug possession and moved to withdraw his plea because he had not been informed that as a result of his plea his driver's license would be revoked under Section 322.055(1), Florida Statutes (1997). In the opinion Judge Gross writes:

Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.170(k) requires the trial court to determine that a defendant's plea is voluntary. One aspect of a voluntary plea is that the defendant understand the reasonable consequences of his plea, including "the mandatory minimum penalty provided by law, if any, and the maximum possible penalty provided by law." Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.172(c) (1); Ashley v. State, 614 So.2d 486, 488 (Fla. 1993). However, a trial court is required to inform a defendant only of the direct consequences of plea, and is under no duty to advise the defendant

of any collateral consequences. See <u>State v. Ginebra</u>, 511 So2d 960, 961 (Fla. 1987); <u>State v. Fox</u>, 659 So2d 1324, 1327 (Fla. 3^{rd} DCA 1995), rev. den., <u>Fox v. State</u>, 668 So.2d 602(Fla. 1996). In <u>Zambuto v. State</u>, 413 So.2d 461, 462(Fla. 4^{th} DCA 1982), this court adopted the fourth circuit's definition of a "direct consequence" of a plea:

"The distinction between "direct" and "collateral" consequences of a plea, while sometimes shaded in the relevant decisions, turns on whether the result represents definite, immediate and a largely automatic effect on the range of the defendant's punishment." Cuthrell v. Director, PatuxentInstitution, 475 F.2d 1364, 1366 (4th Cir.) cert. denied, 414 U.S. 1005, 94 S. Ct.362, 38 L.Ed. 2d 241(1973)."

In this case, the two year license revocation mandated by Section 322.055(1) was definite, immediate, and automatic upon Daniels' conviction. The revocation was a "consequence" of the plea under <u>Ashley</u> and a "penalty" contemplated by Rule 3.172(c)(1).

Daniels, 716 So.2d at 828-29.

Appellant recognizes that <u>Daniels</u> is in conflict with <u>State v. Bolware</u>, So2d (Fla. 1st DCA 2003), 28 Fla.L.Weekly D2493 (Fla. 1st DCA 2003) on the issue of whether the consequence is direct or collateral and this Court has granted review (See <u>Bolware v. State</u>, 924 So2d 806 (Fla. 2006)). However, that would not effect the determination that the revocation was a penalty regardless of whether it was direct versus collateral consequence.

In 2001 the Fourth District Court used the same analysis in <u>Whipple v. State</u>, 789 So2d 1132 (Fla. 4th DCA 2001) allowing Whipple to withdraw his guilty plea to DUI based on the failure to be advised by counsel of the license revocation. Again, the license revocation is determined to be a penalty that was definite, immediate and automatic effect on the range of the defendant's punishment.

3. THE DRIVER'S LICENSE REVOCATION COMES INTO PLAY ONLY ON A FINDING OF SCIENTER

The term scienter is frequently used to signify a Section 322.28, Florida defendant's quilty knowledge. Statutes (2007) addresses the periods of suspension or revocation of driver's licenses. The section provides that after a first conviction for DUI, the revocation shall be for 6 months to one year, and that on the second, third and fourth violations i.e. convictions, the period of revocation increase with a lifetime revocation following a fourth DUI conviction. Section 322.28(2), Florida Statutes The statutory scheme for driver's (2007). license revocation requires a criminal conviction for DUI. The conviction for DUI attaches either after a knowing and

voluntary plea of guilty at which time a defendant accepts responsibility and admits to the facts that gave rise to the arrest and therefore supports the conviction, or after a defendant exercise the right to go to trial and is confronted with the facts that support a conviction.

4. DRIVER'S LICENSE REVOCATIONS UNDER THE STATUTORY SCHEME PROMOTE THE TRADITIONAL AIMS OF PUNISHMENT-RETRIBUTION AND DETERRENCE

As discussed above, the current revocation statutes provide for periods of suspension or revocation that increase in length depending on the presence of prior convictions for DUI. The statutory scheme requires the Court to impose the suspension at the time of sentencing and if not done at that time the statute mandates that the Department of Highway Safety and Motor Vehicles impose the suspension within 30 days of the sentencing. (See Section 322.28(2)(e), Florida Statutes (2007)).

Recognizing that the Department of Highway Safety and Motor Vehicles will argue that this action is administrative in nature and not as punishment, the Petitioner would disagree. The current statutory scheme provides the Department of Highway Safety and Motor Vehicles the authority to suspend "administratively" a persons driver's license at the time of arrest for DUI. Section 322.2615, Florida Statutes (2007). This section

authorizes a law enforcement officer arresting someone for DUI to take the driver's license at the time of arrest, issue a Uniform Traffic Citation which is a 10 day temporary permit, and issue a Notice of Suspension. The driver has the option of contesting this suspension at an informal or formal review by requesting such from the Department of Highway Safety and Motor Vehicles. (See Section 322.2615, Florida Statutes (2007)).

Separate and apart from the administrative suspension, Section 322.28 addresses periods of suspension after conviction for DUI. Section 322.28 provides for increased periods of suspension for prior convictions based on an offender's driving record. Since DUI is considered an enhancement crime, (See §316.193, Florida Statutes(2007))a defendant is informed at the time of sentencing that subsequent convictions will result in increased penalties, the driver's license suspension being one of them. (See Section 322.28(2)(a)(2), Florida Statute(2007) wherein it states a second conviction within a period of five (5) years shall result in а five (5) year suspension, and 322.28(2)(a)(3) a third suspension within 10 years of a prior conviction shall result in a ten (10) year suspension and 322.28(2)(e) a fourth offense the Court shall permanently revoke the license without the opportunity to

apply for a hardship permit.) This escalation of time of suspension serves both purposes of punishment to those who have offended and as a deterrence to those who fear the penalty of loss of license.

5. THE BEHAVIOR TO WHICH THE LICENSE SUSPENSION APPLIES IS ALREADY A CRIME

The driver's license suspension pursuant to Section 322.28 applies to convictions for violations of §316.193 the DUI statute. The behavior to which the suspensions apply are crimes ranging from the traffic crime of a first offense to felony crimes for fourth offenses or third offense within a ten (10) year period of a prior conviction. Section 316.193, Florida Statutes (2007).

6. ALTERNATIVE PURPOSE

The Respondent will argue that the driver's license suspension is an administrative remedy for the public protection. Petitioner may accept that based on the argument above that at the time of arrest for DUI under \$322.2615 a law enforcement officer takes the driver's license and issues a Notice of Suspension. The DUI suspect may challenge the suspension at a hearing, but if probably cause exists the license is suspended for up to one year. This action protects the public and puts the citizen on notice. However, Petitioner would disagree

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