IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.: SC07-32 L.T. NO.: 4D06-2291

JAMES LESCHER,

Appellant/Petitioner,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA, DEPARTMENT OF HIGHWAY SAFETY AND MOTOR VEHICLES,

Appellee/Respondent.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

RESPONDENT/APPELLEE'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

JUDSON M. CHAPMAN GENERAL COUNSEL

/

HEATHER ROSE CRAMER Fla. Bar No.0901600 Assistant General Counsel Department of Highway Safety And Motor Vehicles 6801 Lake Worth Road, Suite 230 Lake Worth, FL 33167 (561) 433-3645 COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT/APPELLEE

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Driver license reinstatement and eligibility requirements as established by the Florida legislature are regulatory and remedial in nature and do not entail punishment for criminal behavior. Therefore, they are not invalidated by the prohibition against *ex post facto* laws. The Fourth District Court of Appeal's certified question:

Does the amendment to s. 322.271(4) which eliminated hardship driver's licenses effective July 1, 2003, violate the prohibition against ex post facto laws as to persons who could have applied for a hardship license before the amendment became effective?

Lescher v. Department of Highway Safety and Motor Vehicles,

946 so.2d 1140, 1142 (Fla. 4DCA 2002), must be answered in the negative.

ARGUMENT

AS AMENDED JULY 1, 2003, SECTION 322.271(4), FLORIDA STATUTES DOES NOT VIOLATE ARTICLE 1 SECTION 10 OF THE UNITED STATES AND FLORIDA CONSTITUTIONS AS IT IS PROSPECTIVE IN ITS APPLICATION AND DOES NOT VIOLATE THE PROHIBITION AGAINST EX POST FACTO LAWS.

Petitioner's driver license is permanently revoked pursuant to s. 322.28(2)(e), Florida Statutes (2000), as a result of four DUI convictions. As Petitioner notes, section 322.271(4) was amended July 1, 1998 to eliminate the ability for an individual permanently revoked for four DUI convictions to receive a hardship license. Subsequently, the amendment to s. 322.271(4), Fla. Stat. (1998) was held by this Court to be unconstitutional as it violated the single subject rule. <u>Dep't of Highway Safety</u> <u>and Motor Vehicle v. Critchfield</u>, 842 So.2d 782 (Fla. 2003) reh'g denied June 11, 2003.

However, Florida case law holds that single subject violations in legislative acts are cured, and the acts themselves prospectively revived, when the Legislature readopts the statutes as the official law of Florida. Once reenacted as a portion of the Florida Statutes, a chapter law is no longer subject to challenge on the grounds that it violates the single subject requirement of Article III, Section 6, of the Florida Constitution. See Loxahatchee

<u>River Envtl. Control Dist. v. School Bd.</u>, 515 So.2d 217 (Fla. 1987); <u>State v. Combs</u>, 388 So.2d 1029 (Fla. 1980) (the single subject requirement of article III, section 6, only applies to "chapter laws," and sections of the Florida Statutes need not conform to the requirement); <u>State v.</u> Johnson, 616 So.2d 1, 2 (Fla. 1993).

The Court's decision, Critchfield, rendered on March 13, became final upon denial of the Department's motion for rehearing on June 11, 2003. In the interim, the 2003 Legislature readopted the 2002 statutes through HB 1017, which was signed by the Governor May 21, 2003. It was designated ch. 2003 25, Laws of Florida and became law on that date. Under §5 of ch. 2003 25, the law takes effect "on the 60th day after adjournment sine die" of the session in which it was enacted. Chapter 2003 25 was enacted in the regular session ending May 2, 2003. Thus, the effective date of the re-adoption of the 2002 statutes is July 1, 2003. In short, Critchfield became final after the re-adoption bill became law, but before its effective date. Thus, ch. 98 223 is revived and operates prospectively as of July 1, 2003. Dep't of Highway Safety and Motor Vehicles v. Gaskins, 891 So.2d 643 (Fla. 2d DCA 2005)("[t]he legislature cured the defect when it 'reenacted the 1999 version of the Florida Statutes, effective July 1, 2003.'"

Id. at 644, quoting, <u>State, Dep't of Highway Safety & Motor</u> <u>Vehicles v. Fountain</u>, 883 So.2d 300, 301 (Fla. 1st DCA 2004)). Even more recently in <u>State v. Rothauser</u>, 934 So.2d 17 (Fla. 2d DCA 2006), the Second District held that Florida follows the "codification" rule under which a single subject violation during the enactment of a law is cured by the legislature's later act of adopting the law as an official statute that is published in the Florida Statutes.

A. PROSPECTIVE APPLICATION OF S. 322.271(4)

On August 3, 2005, when Petitioner applied for early reinstatement of his driving privilege, he was statutorily not eligible to receive a hardship license. § 322.271(4), Fla. Stat. (2005). There is no statutory authority permitting the Department to reinstate the Petitioner's driving privilege. <u>Cantrall v. Dep't of Highway Safety and</u> <u>Motor Vehicles</u>, 828 So.2d 1062 (Fla. 2d DCA 2002)(upheld the cancellation of a restricted driver license issued to a driver four times convicted of DUI in violation of § 322.271(4), Florida Statutes (1999)). In <u>Cantrall</u>, the Second District held:

> Florida follows the general rule that a change in a licensure statute that occurs during the pendency of an application for licensure is operative as to the application, so that the law

as changed, rather than as it existed at the time the application was filed, determines whether the license should be granted. In Ziffrin [Inc. v. United States, 318 U.S. 73 (1943)], the United States Supreme Court reasoned that just as a change in the law between a [jury triall and an appellate decision requires the appellate court to apply the changed law, so, by like token, a change of law pending an administrative hearing or act must be followed in relation to a permit for the doing of a Otherwise, said future act. the [C]ourt, the administrative body would permit contrary to issuing be а existing legislation. Lavernia v. Dep't of Prof'l Regulation, Bd. Of Med., 616 So.2d 53, 53-54 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993) (citations omitted).

Id. at 1063. See Hill v. Dep't of Highway Safety and Motor Vehicle, 891 So.2d 1202 (Fla. 4th DCA 2005).

By amending section 322.271(4), the Legislature made a determination that in order to be eligible to drive and receive a restricted driver license one must not have four or more convictions of section 316.193 or former section 316.1931 on his/her driving record. The law simply added a new qualification, or disqualification, to the privilege of obtaining a restricted Florida driver license. The law and requirements for reinstatement pursuant section to 322.271(4) were properly applied to Petitioner as written at the time he applied for reinstatement. Petitioner's privilege of reinstatement changed when the Legislature

changed the terms and conditions of the privilege of getting a restricted license after four or more convictions for DUI. Petitioner is required to satisfy the conditions to qualify for reinstatement at the time he is reinstated.

B. NO EX POST FACTO VIOLATION EXISTS

This Court addressed the constitutional prohibition on ex post facto laws in Goad v. Florida Dept. of Corrections, 845 So.2d 880 (Fla. 2003), by concluding that, "[a] law violates the ex post facto clauses of the United States and Florida Constitutions when it increases the punishment for a criminal offense after the crime has been committed." Id. at 882. "The categorization of a particular proceeding as civil or criminal 'is first of all a question of statutory construction.'" Goad, at 882, citing Kansas v. Hendricks, 521 U.S. 346, (1997), quoting Allen v. Illinois, 478 U.S. 364, 368,(1986). "We must initially ascertain whether the legislature meant the statute to establish 'civil' proceedings. If so, we ordinarily defer to the legislature's stated intent." Hendricks, 521 U.S. at 361. When attempting to discern legislative intent, courts must first look at the actual language used in the statute. See Joshua v. City of Gainesville, 768 So.2d 432, 435 (Fla. 2000). Whether a particular punishment is criminal or

civil is a matter of statutory construction. <u>Hudson v. US</u>, 522 U.S. 93 (1997).

Here, as in <u>Goad</u>, the legislative intent under Florida's motor vehicle laws is abundantly clear:

It is declared to be the legislative intent to:

(1) Provide maximum safety for all persons who travel or otherwise use the public highways of the state.

(2) Deny the privilege of operating motor vehicles on public highways to persons who, by their conduct and record, have demonstrated their indifference for the safety and welfare of others and their disrespect for the laws of the state and the orders of the state courts and administrative agencies.

(3) Discourage repetition of criminal action by individuals against the peace and dignity of the state, its political subdivisions, and its municipalities increased and impose and added deprivation of the privilege of operating motor vehicles upon habitual offenders who have been convicted repeatedly of violations of traffic laws.

§322.263, Fla. Stat. (2005). Further, Section 322.42 expressly encourages liberal construction of the statutory provisions of chapter 322, and states as follows:

> This chapter shall be liberally construed to the end that the greatest force and effect may be given to its provisions of the promotion of public safety.

The plain language of Chapter 322 sets forth the Legislature's intent that the Department's function is administrative and its mission is to promote and protect the public safety. The provisions of Chapter 322 provide a civil remedy toward that end. The Legislature's stated intent must not be rejected unless Petitioner presents "'the clearest proof' that 'the statutory scheme [is] so punitive either in purpose or effect as to negate 'the state's intention' that the proceeding be civil." Goad, 845 So.2d at 884, citing Allen, 478 U.S. at 369. Under the guideposts established in Hudson, and reviewed by this Court in Goad, Petitioner has failed to establish the proof necessary to support a finding that s. 322.271(4) Florida Statutes is so punitive in nature as to transform what is clearly intended as a civil remedy into a criminal penalty.

In determining whether a civil statute is in reality punitive in nature, this Court held in <u>Goad</u> that it must consider: (1) whether the sanction involves an affirmative disability or restraint; (2) whether it has historically been regarded as a punishment; (3) whether it comes into play only on a finding of scienter; (4) whether its operation will promote the traditional aims of punishmentretribution and deterrence; (5) whether the behavior to

which it applies is already a crime; (6) whether an alternative purpose to which it may rationally be connected is assignable for it; and (7) whether it appears excessive in relation to the alternative purpose assigned. <u>Goad</u>, 845 So.2d at 884 <u>citing Hudson</u>, 522 U.S. at 99-100.

First, the sanction imposed does not involve an affirmative disability or restraint as normally understood. <u>See Hudson</u>, 522 U.S. at 104. While Petitioner is no longer qualified to receive a hardship license, this is "certainly nothing approaching the punishment of imprisonment." <u>Id</u>. quoting Flemming v. Nester, 363 U.S. 603 (1960).

Second, limitations on the privilege to operate a motor vehicle have never historically been viewed as a punishment. On the contrary, a Florida driver license has long been held to be a privilege, not a right and revocation of the privilege is not regarded as a punishment of the offender. <u>Smith v. City of Gainesville</u>, 93 So.2d 105 (1953) ("revocation of a driver's license is not regarded as punishment of the offender. Under the applicable statute, it is an administrative remedy for the public protection that mandatorily follows conviction for certain offenses..."). <u>Dep't of Highway Safety and Motor Vehicles v.</u> <u>Vogt</u>, 489 So. 2d 1168, 1171 (Fla. 2d DCA 1986); <u>Dep't of</u> Highway Safety and Motor Vehicles v. Grapski, 696 So.2d 950

(Fla. 4th DCA 1997) <u>quoting</u> <u>Smith v. City of Gainesville</u>, 93 So. 2d 105, "[w]hen made mandatory by statute, revocation of a license is an administrative function". <u>State v. Walters</u>, 567 So.2d 49 (Fla. 2d DCA 1990); <u>Davidson v. MacKinnon</u>, 656 So.2d 223, 224 (Fla. 5th DCA 1995) (Citing <u>Freeman v. State</u>, 611 So.2d 1260 (Fla. 2d DCA 1992), stated that the purpose of statute providing for revocation of a driver's license upon conviction for driving while intoxicated is to provide an administrative remedy for public protection and not for punishment of the offender.).

The First District Court of Appeal in <u>Dep't of Highway</u> <u>Safety and Motor Vehicles v. Gordon</u>, 860 So.2d 469 (Fla. 1st DCA 2003) overturned an order requiring a revocation period different from that mandated by statute based on a plea agreement¹ reached in the DUI criminal case. In <u>Gordon</u>, the court held that any bargain a defendant may strike in a plea agreement in a criminal case has no bearing on administrative consequences that flow from the

¹ A conflict currently exists between the First and Fourth District Courts of Appeal as to whether a driver license revocation is a collateral consequence of a guilty plea. Interestingly, the Fourth District in <u>Daniels v. State</u>, 716 So.2d 827 (Fla. 4th DCA 1998), held that it is a collateral consequence warranting a plea withdrawal while the First District held that it is not a collateral consequence. <u>State</u> <u>v. Bolware</u>, 28 Fla. L. Weekly D2493 (Fla. 1st DCA Oct. 31, 2003). The issue is currently pending before this Court. <u>Bolware v. State</u>, 924 So.2d 806 (Fla. 2006)

defendant's actions. In rejecting the circuit court's holding that the Department was an agent of the state and therefore bound by the plea agreement Gordon entered into with the state attorney's office, the court reiterated the holdings above that "the administrative revocation of a driver's license for DUI is not "punishment" of the offender rather it is an administrative remedy for the public protection that mandatorily follows conviction for certain offenses." <u>citing Dep't of Highway Safety and Motor</u> <u>Vehicles v. Grapski</u>, 696 So.2d at 951 <u>quoting Smith v. City</u> <u>of Gainesville</u>, 93 So.2d at 107 and <u>Vogt</u>, 489 So.2d at 1170.

In 1998, the Fifth District Court of Appeal held that a statute which denied enrollment in the Medicaid program to a provider if the provider had been convicted of a criminal offense relating to fraud, theft, embezzlement, breach of fiduciary responsibility, or other financial misconduct did not violate the prohibition against ex post facto laws. <u>Rowe v. Agency For Health Care Administration</u>, 714 So.2d 1108 (Fla. 5th DCA 1998). The court rejected Rowe's argument that the application of the statute, which was enacted after his convictions for conspiracy and money laundering, violated the prohibition against ex post facto laws. The court recognized that the statute did not

increase the penalty imposed upon Rowe for his crimes, but instead, simply limited his privilege to participate in the state's Medicaid program. Id.

The determination of an ex post facto law is similar to the analysis applied in determining double jeopardy. In <u>Borrego v. Agency For Health Care Administration</u>, 675 So.2d 666 (Fla. 1st DCA 1996), the First District Court of Appeal held that the suspension of a physician's license to practice medicine did not violate the constitutional prohibition against double jeopardy as the license to practice medicine is considered a privilege granted by the sovereign, which may be withdrawn to "preserve the public health, morals, comfort, safety and the good order of society." <u>See State ex rel. Munch v. Davis</u>, 143 Fla. 236, 196 So. 491, 493-94 (1940).

Like participation in a Medicaid program or a medical license, a Florida driver license has long been held to be a privilege, not a right. <u>See Smith</u>, 93 So.2d at 107. In <u>Borrego</u>, the court recognized that the United States Supreme Court has characterized as remedial the "revocation of a privilege voluntarily granted." <u>Helvering v. Mitchell</u>, 303 U.S. 391, 399 & n. 2, 58 S. Ct. 630, 633 & n. 2, 82 L.Ed. 917, 922 & n. 2 (1938). The removal of the driver's license and the qualifications established to receive a

restricted license ensures the public's protection and is not intended, nor does it operate as, a punishment of the driver.

In 1993, this Court stated "there is no property interest in possessing a drivers license. Rather, driving is a privilege, and the privilege can be taken away or encumbered as a means of meeting a legitimate legislative goal." <u>Lite v. State</u>, 617 So.2d 1058, 1060 (Fla. 1993). This Court, in citing its prior decision in <u>City of Miami</u> <u>v. Aronovitz</u>, 114 So.2d 784 (Fla. 1959), stated "the requirement of obtaining a driver's license and the exercise of the privilege of driving over the public highways, together with the correlative loss of the privilege under certain conditions, is a reasonable regulation of an individual right in the interest of the public good."

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